FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE MAY 29 1998

DAVID	PĄl	JL	SNIPES,	:
		A	ppellant,	:
vs.				:
STATE	OF	FL	ORIDA,	:
		A	ppellee.	:

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_

NC. Chief Deputy Clark

: Case No. 90,413

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

:

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 31, 1995, David Snipes (Appellant) and John Saladino were charged by indictment for the first-degree murder of Markus Mueller, a/k/a Markus Muller, a/k/a Markus Muller, a/k/a Kark Markus Muller, with a gun in violation of §782.04 and §777.011, Fla. Stat. (1993). The homicide occurred on February 9, 1995, in Lee County, Florida. (V1/R9-11) Over objection, the prosecutor was allowed to amend the indictment in September 1996 by changing the name of the victim from "Kark" to "Karl." (V4/R131-137) Mr. Snipes had a jury trial in January 1997 and was found guilty as charged on January 16, 1997. (V5/R281;V10-14;V14/T907) The penalty phase was held on February 14, 1997; and the jury recommended death 11-1. (V7/R378-575; V8/R576-620) A Spencer hearing was held on March 14, 1997; and the sentencing hearing took place on April 11, 1997. On April 11, 1997, Circuit Court Judge Jay Rosman sentenced Mr. Snipes to death. (V8/R655-776; V9/R777-800,810-813) The notice of appeal was filed on April 15, 1997. (V9/R802,803)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Trial_Testimony

On February 9, 1995, at about 10:20 -10:26 p.m., Markus Mueller's neighbors in Bonita Springs, Florida, heard shots fired coming from the direction of Mr. Mueller's townhouse. One neighbor called 911; but due to miscommunications in the police department, no one contacted that neighbor that night. In addition, a patrol officer's drive-through of the neighborhood revealed nothing amiss.¹ (V11/T348-383)

The next day at about noon, Danielle Bieber and her husband David Bieber showed up at Sergio Acosta's home. Mrs. Bieber wanted Mr. Acosta to take her to Mr. Mueller's home. Mrs. Bieber said she did not want her husband to get into a fight with Mr. Mueller; however, Mr. Bieber followed Mr. Acosta and Mrs. Bieber separately to the Mueller residence. Mr. Acosta waited in his car while Mrs. Bieber went into the Mueller townhouse, and within a minute Mrs. Bieber came running back out "freaking out" saying Mr. Mueller had killed himself and Mr. Bieber had killed Mr. Mueller. Mr. Acosta went into the townhouse with Mrs. Bieber, and he saw Mr. Mueller on the floor dead. Mrs. Bieber called the police, and then she went upstairs. She went through Mr. Mueller's things and took some money from his wallet. (V11/T384-399; V12/T400) When the police arrived, Mrs. Bieber had to be told several times to leave the

¹ After an internal investigation, the patrol officer received two days suspension. (V11/T380,381)

townhouse by both the police outside the townhouse and the dispatcher on the phone. (V12/T436,437) When Mrs. Bieber did speak to police outside the townhouse, she said Mr. Bieber could have done this. (V12/T419) The office who heard this spoke to Mr. Bieber briefly at the scene, but did not arrest him. (V12/T412-414,419)

The autopsy on Mr. Mueller was done on February 11, 1995. There were three shots to the body: one in the head, one in the lower right side of the abdomen, and one in the chest. There was no way of knowing which shot came first. The wound to the head was fatal while the other two wounds would not have been fatal. The fatal wound to the head would have rendered Mr. Mueller unconscious almost immediately, and death would have followed very shortly thereafter. The official cause of death was cranial cerebral injury (injuries to the head and brain) from a gunshot wound to the head. (V13/T616-635) The medical examiner said that if someone is found cold with lividity set in and rigor mortis fully set in, the person has been dead for a minimum of four hours. (V13/T630,631) One officer at the scene at about 12:30 p.m. on February 10, 1995, described the blood on the body as being dried and not fresh. (V12/ T433) The investigator from the Medical Examiner's office described the body before it was removed from the scene as being cold and rigid. (V12/T577,578)

Two bullets were removed from the body and two bullets were found at the scene. (V12/T458,464,493-501,526-538; V13/T629) An expert in firearms identification described all four bullets as either .38 special caliber or .357 magnum caliber. There are

certain brands of firearms that could have fired these bullets, and one of these is a Charter Arms brand of gun - Charter Arms made a .38 special caliber, 5-shot, snub-nose revolver called a Pit Bull between 1989-1993. All of the bullets in question could have been fired from a .38 snub-nose revolver, but the markings made by the gun on these bullets are not rare. (V12/T548-567) The weapon used in this case had never been recovered according to one of the case agents. (V12/T586)

The main case agent in this case, Agent Barry Futch, believed David Bieber was responsible for Mr. Mueller's death. Mr. Bieber had made numerous statements that he wanted Mr. Mueller dead, and Mr. Bieber had contacted Mr. Mueller the night of the homicide at about 8:30 or 9:30 p.m. There was two possible motives: steroid trafficking and jealously over Danielle Bieber.

Various witnesses Agent Futch interviewed said Mr. Mueller used anabolic steroids, and there were steroids recovered. (V13/ T769-784) Drugs and needles in pharmaceutical-type packaging were recovered from Mr. Mueller's bedroom. (V12/T518-523) Six syringes and a vial were retrieved from Mrs. Bieber's car. (V12/T542) A search of Mrs. Bieber's home revealed some syringes and little bottles. (V12/T590) The Medical Examiner stated that Mr. Mueller's body was not tested for steroids (this requires a special test that is not commonly done by Medical Examiners); but Mr. Mueller had some physical attributes suggestive of the use of steroids: highly muscular, shrunken testicles, and cardiomegaly (enlarged heart). These are all findings typical of steroid users. (V13/T637-639)

According to Agent Futch, there was a large amount of steroids involved. (V13/T792)

As for the jealousy over Danielle Bieber, Agent Futch learned that Mrs. Bieber had married David Bieber on February 3, 1995; but Mrs. Bieber had been a girlfriend of Mr. Mueller before that. Mrs. Bieber had been secretly seeing David Bieber since November 1994. (V13/T796,797)

Based on one or both of the above-stated reasons, it was believed Mr. Bieber had either killed Mr. Mueller or had had Mr. Mueller killed. (V13/T784) Mr. Bieber, however, has not yet been found; and there is a warrant out for his arrest. (V12/T582,583; V13/T698,793)

In September 1995 Mr. Snipes and Mr. John Saladino were arrested for Mr. Mueller's murder.² Mr. Snipes was arrested because of information supplied by Michael Larson. (V13/T698,699) Mr. Larson said he lived next door to Mr. Snipes and they were friends. Some time prior to February 1995 Mr. Snipes asked Mr. Larson for a .38 pistol, and Mr. Larson gave Mr. Snipes a blue .38 that said Pit Bull on it. Mr. Larson never got the gun back. (V13/ T663-665)

According to another of Mr. Snipes' friends, Chris Johnson, Mr. Saladino approached Mr. Johnson at the end of January 1995 or early February 1995 and asked if Mr. Johnson would shoot somebody.

² Mr. Larson had been arrested on two felonies and a misdemeanor, but a week later he gave a statement about Mr. Snipes. Subsequently, Mr. Larson pled to two misdemeanors and got 6 months probation. (V13/T665-669)

Mr. Johnson said "no"; but he knew that Mr. Saladino knew Mr. Snipes. Shortly thereafter in February 1995, Mr. Snipes told Mr. Johnson that he (Snipes) shot and killed someone for \$1,000. (V12/ T594-601)

Melissa Snipes³ was Mr. Snipes' live-in girlfriend in January and February 1995. In February 1995 she noted that Mr. Snipes had more money than usual -- he made a car payment, got new tires for the car, and paid the rent. Mr. Snipes initially said he got the money by robbing somebody in Bonita Springs. Later, he said he had been hired by John Saladino to shoot someone. (V13/T608-615)

While in custody awaiting trial, Mr. Snipes also spoke to two of his uncles. Lawrence Patterson visited his nephew in October or November of 1995, and his nephew said he had done something stupid. He had shot someone for \$1,000. Mr. Snipes said he had gone to the person's home in Bonita Springs in the later evening hours, knocked on the door, and shot the man five or six times when he answered the door. (V13/T646-652) Martin Patterson, who had once served in the military and was a private investigator, was in law school at the time of the trial. He started speaking to his nephew January 30, 1996, by phone; and the two had numerous phone conversations after that. Martin Patterson secretly recorded these conversations. His nephew also wrote him; but despite telling his nephew that he destroyed all the letters, so that they could not be used as evidence, Martin Patterson kept them all. After a couple of months, Martin Patterson decided his nephew had no remorse; so out

³ The two were married on August 13, 1996. (V13/T607)

of concern for the community, Martin Patterson turned the six hours of tapes and all the letters over to the police. In his letters to his nephew, Martin Patterson encouraged his nephew to tell him everything ("You must earn my trust through honesty") and to find someone to unload thoughts and guilt trips on -- someone who could be trusted, like Martin Patterson. Martin Patterson also encouraged his nephew to speak to him with the implied promise of helping the nephew on his case (getting a private attorney).

After obtaining his nephew's trust, Martin Patterson said his nephew told him the following: On February 9, 1995, he shot four times an individual wearing a Mohawk; and one shot missed. He did it with a .38 caliber revolver he got from Mike Larson which he later threw in the river. No one saw him and there were no fingerprints. Afterward he threw his clothes and shoes in a pile and burned them. John Saladino hired him to do this and paid him either \$1,000 or \$1,100. He knew John Saladino, and John Saladino knew Dave Bieber. Dave Bieber asked John Saladino to get someone to do this, and John Saladino asked him. John Saladino is the middle man in this. He went by himself, but he told John Saladino and Mike Larson what happened. (V13/T627-689)

Agent Futch interviewed Mr. Snipes on September 23, 1995, from 2:00 a.m. to 6:25 a.m. The agent said they had nothing to arrest Mr. Snipes on, and they needed Mr. Snipes' confession. At 6:07 a.m. Mr. Snipes gave a taped statement: A few days before February 9, 1995, John Saladino asked him if he wanted to make some money. John Saladino knew he needed money. John Saladino told him that

someone would pay \$1,000 to shoot somebody. He told Mr. Saladino he would think about it, and a few days later he told Mr. Saladino he would do it. He asked Mr. Saladino for an address and directions. He got a .38 caliber gun from his friend next door; went to the apartment at night on February 9, 1995; shot the man who answered the doorbell four or five times in the head and chest; threw the gun in the creek; and got paid the next day. (V13/T699-748)

Although Mr. Saladino was arrested at the same time as Mr. Snipes (V13/T697,698), Mr. Saladino's case was still pending at the time of Mr. Snipes' trial in January and February 1997. In August 1997, 24-year-old Saladino made a deal with the State: Mr. Saladino plead to the reduced charge of second-degree murder in this case with a 15-year prison sentence followed by 10 years probation. In exchange, Mr. Saladino agreed to testify against David Bieber in the murder of Markus Mueller should Mr. Bieber ever be caught. The sister and father of Markus Mueller (who testified against Mr. Snipes in his penalty phase) agreed to this deal. (SV/R1-18)

Penalty Phase

In addition to all evidence presented in the guilt phase, the State presented two members of Mr. Mueller's family -- his sister and father. Although both lived in Germany, they said Markus Mueller visited them. Nancy Mueller said she was close to her brother and his death hurt her. His death changed her life a lot; it left a pain in her heart she could do nothing about. Roland Mueller said his son's death had a very bad affect on him. "If you

can imagine when one of your children dies and someone tells you he's dead, it's very bad on us, the family." (V7/R433-438)

Mr. Snipes presented the following evidence at the penalty phase:

Dr. Sidney Merin, an expert in clinical psychology, interviewed and tested Mr. Snipes. The testing revealed that Mr. Snipes' brain is capable of dealing with complexities under a high degree of time pressure, able to shift his mental gears and change direction, able to move rapidly in a sequence, can learn from whether he was just right or wrong and capable of holding that information. Although Mr. Snipes can understand what is said to him and can respond verbally, his ability to verbally comprehend and his social understanding were significantly below average. In other words, Mr. Snipes is capable of language function, but not as capable when it comes to making adequate social judgments. Something went wrong in order for Mr. Snipes to not be able to make appropriate social judgments despite the brain's ability to deal with it. (V7/R443-458)

Mr. Snipes is emotionally immature and is very insecure. He is very sensitive to what other people think of him -- so sensitive that he reads into what people say or do motives that really aren't there. Due to his feelings of inadequacy, Mr. Snipes had to prove himself. It is very important for him to be a very strong masculine figure; it is a bravado or macho sort of thing. Mr. Snipes got into drugs⁴ and alcohol at an early age -- 12 or 13. Something

⁴ The drugs listed were marijuana, LSD, glue, and gasoline.

had to have gone wrong before that time in the way he was reared or he would not have turned to alcohol and drugs. The alcohol and drugs then create additional problems and everything escalates. Mr. Snipes could be easily led, and some of the alcohol and drug use was trying to get acceptance with his peers. If a person has vast amounts of insecurities and can't learn how to deal with their problems, that person will associate with people who equally don't know how to deal with their problems. Mr. Snipes could be easily led by older persons to do an act that would be against social norms. (V7/R458-463,470)

In Dr. Merin's opinion Mr. Snipes was acting under mental duress at the time of this incident, but not the type of mental duress that is usually thought of. Mr. Snipes' duress was a result of many, many years of experiencing a dysfunctional family consisting of horrendous, very poor models of behavior. Mr. Snipes tried to adjust himself to life, but he obviously failed. Mr. Snipes has been experiencing stress throughout his life; so by the time this event occurred, he was operating at a high level of stress to which he had already become adjusted and adapted. This level of stress, however, was much higher than what would be found in a typical or average person. Mr. Snipes' stress at the time of the killing might not have been much beyond his usual amount of stress, but his usual level of stress was very high. (V7/R466-467,476)

Although the doctor could not find any evidence of brain impairment or mental or emotional defect or disorder, Mr. Snipes had a behavioral disorder. Both parents used alcohol and drugs;

and Mr. Snipes was exposed to an uncle who sexually abused him when he was 3, 4, 5 years old. The uncle left, but was invited back into the home by a family member when Mr. Snipes was 7. The abuse then continued. No one listened to Mr. Snipes about the abuse, and his family did not protect him. Being raised in this bad environment caused a vast amount of things to go wrong. Mr. Snipes was able to understand the consequences of his decisions. (V7/R469,471-475)

Dr. Merin did believe Mr. Snipes had the potential for rehabilitation in a confined environment based on several factors: normal/average intelligence and nothing wrong with the brain. It is a matter of what he was and was not exposed to that shaped the way Mr. Snipes has lived. If he were in a different environment that was structured and that set out rules for him, there is nothing to inhibit his learning of those rules. Mr. Snipes was very cooperative; and he was not delusional, hallucinatory, or malingering/faking. (V7/R463,464) Mr. Snipes did express remorse as to what had happened for the victim, the victim's family, and his own family. The doctor believed this remorse to be genuine. (V7/R467, 468)

Cheryl Pettry, a mitigation specialist, had only 20-21 days to work on this case (she usually has 12-18 months to prepare a case). She discovered the following about Mr. Snipes' family: Both of his parents were 19 when they were married. Mr. Snipes was born in 1977. His family constantly moved and lived with various family members. His parents separated and filed for divorce in 1978. His

father was harassing the family, and his mother got a restraining order. Once when his father had visitation for the day, the father disappeared for five weeks with the kids and would not let the mother know where the children were. His mother was eventually given custody. (V7/R483-489)

Mr. Snipes told counselors that he had been sexually abused by an uncle. The uncle was allowed to move back into the home in 1993 even though the family knew about the sexual abuse. Mr. Snipes felt betrayed and no longer had contact with this father. (The uncle was in the father's house.) Mr. Snipes had an older brother who had quite a few problems. Whenever the older brother wanted to go live with their father, Mr. Snipes had to go too -- the older brother was not allowed to go alone. Mr. Snipes had no choice. Mr. Snipes did not want to go back to his father's, but that was the only way his older brother could go. (V7/R490,491)

Mr. Snipes' mother is an alcoholic, but she had refrained from alcohol for a number of years. His father smokes marijuana several times a day. Grandparents, several aunts, and the stepfather were all alcoholics. Mr. Snipes was constantly confronted with alcoholism. Both he and his father abused marijuana. (V7/R492)

Mr. Snipes got his GED voluntarily in 1993. His son was born April 12, 1996, while Mr. Snipes was in jail; and he married the baby's mother in August 1996. His wife said she will continue to visit him with their son so that he could continue to have contact with his son. Mr. Snipes' mother remarried in 1980 when Mr. Snipes

was about 3 years old. The stepfather was involved with Mr. Snipes' school activities and counseling. (V7/R494-497)

Veronica Lorentz, Mr. Snipes' aunt, has had contact with her nephew about 8 to 10 times for about a week each time. She knows what Mr. Snipes did, but she still stands by him -- she does not want him to die in the electric chair. Mr. Snipes is sweet, friendly, warm, and loving. When she was last down for a visit, she trusted her granddaughter to his care in the pool. She never thought there was a "bad bone" in his body. Mr. Snipes had had a rough life with his own parents and in growing up in general. There was a lot of alcoholism in her family for many, many years, which included her parents, and their parents, extended family, and Mr. Snipes' mother. She knew her nephew had been in treatment for narcotics; when she would ask if he was doing okay and was clean, he would say yes. She has spoken to her nephew since this has happened and gotten letters. They did not speak specifically about the murder, but she felt like her nephew was probably on drugs or he never would have had the strength to do it; it is not his nature. (V7/R498-500, 506-508)

Mr. Snipes' mother did provide Mr. Snipes with food, shelter, and clothing. Ms. Lorentz never saw his parents violent with Mr. Snipes, and they seemed to love him. Mr. Snipes played football and did clogging. His mother and stepfather went to the football scrimmages, and she saw them do a lot of family activities together. Even though Mr. Snipes had everybody's love, it was fragmented; he needed attention and some consistency in his life.

There also wasn't much money in the family. Mr. Snipes started working at 14 or 15 at a grocery store to earn money to get a car. For Christmas and birthdays she tried to send things because she knew that her nephew did not get many presents. (V7/R501,502,508, 512-517)

If her nephew receives a life sentence, she believes he could do something worthwhile in the prison system. He would keep in contact with his family and could learn a trade. He loves his family and son very much. (V7/R507,508)

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