IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID PAUL SNIPES,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 90,413

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

¹This clearly was not a situation where a child was questioned "for hour after hour," as suggested by Snipes' brief (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 32).

in another offense (V1/R34). Snipes was returned to the interview room, was again read and again waived his Miranda rights, and was asked about the other offense (V1/35-36). This conversation, which was also taped, occurred between 7:00 and 8:00 a.m. and lasted shorter than the first interview (V1/R36-37).

When Snipes testified, he acknowledged that he was not given any promises for his cooperation, and that he was not threatened (V1/R48-49). He was offered water and went to the bathroom several times (V1/R48-49). He claimed that Futch and Taylor came in and out several times, interviewing him over the course of two hours, and that he asked Taylor and maybe Futch for an attorney (V1/R47-49). However, he recalled Futch reading him his rights; he understood what Futch was telling him, and there were no threats or coercion used to get him to waive his rights (V1/R50-51). He did not ask for a lawyer when Futch read him his rights (V1/R50-51).

The suppression hearing continued at a later date, and Lt. Taylor testified that he met Snipes at the substation on September 23, 1995, introduced himself, and told Snipes they were trying to get to the bottom of the Markus Mueller case (V2/R65). This was a short conversation; Taylor was not present when Futch later secured a statement from Snipes (V2/R65-66). Taylor stated that Snipes never asked him or anyone else for an attorney, or said anything that could be interpreted as such a request (V2/R66). Taylor noted that Snipes appeared normal and did not smell of alcohol (V2/R67).

He also noted that Snipes was not in custody, but was there voluntarily, and could have left at any time (V2/R68). Snipes again testified, stating that he asked both Taylor and Futch for an attorney, and that he was threatened with "the max" if he wanted to play hardball (V2/71-72).

These facts clearly establish that Snipes' statements were voluntary and not the result of coercion, deception or intimidation. Furthermore, Snipes admitted that he understood his rights as Futch read them, demonstrating his awareness of the nature and consequences of the rights he was giving up. These are the two components necessary for a valid Miranda waiver; since both were proven, the trial court correctly denied the motions to suppress. Sliney v. State, 699 So.2d 662, 668 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 1079 (1998); Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986); Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. at 725.

In <u>Fare v. Michael C.</u>, the United States Supreme Court identified the relevant factors for consideration in this situation. The Court noted that the juvenile's age, experience, education, background, intelligence, and capacity to understand his Miranda warnings, the nature of his Fifth Amendment rights, and the consequences of waiving those rights must be evaluated. Unfortunately, these factors were not developed at the evidentiary hearing because the voluntariness of his statements was not raised as an issue. However, other evidence in the record shows that

Snipes was eighteen at the time of the interview,² had a history of prior contacts with law enforcement, had obtained his GED, performed very well on his general intelligence tests, and acknowledged that he understood the Miranda warnings at the time of his interview (V1/R50-51; V7/R454-457, 494, 545).

The State takes issue with Snipes' assertion that the factual dispute as to whether Snipes asked for an attorney is a proper "totality of the circumstances" factor for consideration. The fact that Snipes testified that he asked for an attorney and both officers testified that Snipes never asked for an attorney cannot reasonably suggest that his confession was involuntary. This factual dispute was resolved against Snipes by the trial court. The rejection of this testimony by the fact finder suggests only that Snipes lied under oath. Surely a defendant that voluntarily confessed to a crime cannot vitiate that voluntariness by lying at a subsequent suppression hearing. A factual dispute can be created, after the fact, in any given case. The fact that one was created here does not support the claim that this confession was not voluntary.

Similarly, Snipes' reliance on Det. Futch's "need" to obtain a confession is irrelevant to the question of voluntariness, as the United States Supreme Court has expressly acknowledged. Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. at 423. By suggesting some level of police

²Snipes was 17 at the time of the crime but 18 by the time he was interviewed by police. See Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 28, n. 5.

misconduct occurred when the officers questioned Snipes about his involvement in Mueller's murder simply because they did not feel like they had enough to arrest Snipes before he confessed, the appellant ignores the "indispensable role" that confessions and interrogations play in the investigation and prosecution of crimes, and that the State's authority to obtain freely given confessions is "an unqualified good." Traylor, 596 So.2d at 968.

Thus, when the irrelevant factors are removed from Snipes' totality of circumstances argument, his complaint is reduced to the claim that his age of eighteen years, the fact that he was told the police wanted to talk to him about an investigation next door (when the investigation next door was the source of information as to Snipes' involvement in this murder), and the lack of evidence as to what his mother was told when the police arrived to ask him to come make a statement are sufficient to establish that the trial court erred in determining his Miranda waiver and subsequent statements to have been voluntary. Given the clear case law that a juvenile's confession is not rendered inadmissible by the fact that a parent did not have a meaningful opportunity to be present at the interrogation, this argument must fail.

This Court has expressly rejected the claim that a child cannot be subject to interrogation unless a parent has had the opportunity to consult with the child. <u>Doerr v. State</u>, 383 So.2d 905 (Fla. 1980). See also, <u>Brookins v. State</u>, 704 So.2d 576 (Fla.

1st DCA 1997). The appellant's concern with any inconsistency between Doerr, and Allen v. State, 636 So.2d 494 (Fla. 1994), has no bearing on the trial court's ruling on his motions to suppress. Doerr held that a violation of Section 39.03(3)(a), Florida Statutes (1975), was not, in itself, a basis for exclusion of any statements taken after a juvenile was taken into custody. Allen acknowledged that, in order for the statute on parental notification to be meaningful, an interrogation of a juvenile should stop once a parent arrives and asks to see the child. also, <u>J.E.S. v. State</u>, 366 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). In the instant case, no lack of compliance with the relevant juvenile statute has been established, or even alleged. Testimony at the suppression hearing established that Snipes' mother was home and went to get Snipes when Dep. Biddle and Det. Futch asked him to come down and provide a statement (V1/R40). Furthermore, the statute only requires notification once a decision has been made to detain a child; in this case, the unrefuted testimony established that the decision to arrest and detain Snipes was not made until after his confession (V2/R68). State v. Paille, 601 So.2d 1321, 1324 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). If the failure to comply with what the statute requires is not reason in itself to suppress a confession, then surely the failure to go beyond what the statute requires cannot require suppression.

 $^{^3}$ This subsection was codified as §39.037 when considered in <u>Allen</u>, and is currently codified as §985.207, Florida Statutes (1997).

The other cases cited by the appellant do not provide a basis for excluding his statements. Gallegos v. Colorado, 370 U.S. 49 (1962), and Haley v. Ohio, 332 U.S. 596 (1948) involved younger defendants (fourteen and fifteen years old, respectively) that had not been provided Miranda rights and were understandably found to be unaware of the consequences talking to the police. The appellant was eighteen at the time of the interview, and properly characterized as an "old" juvenile. See, Paille, 601 So.2d at 1324. He voluntarily left his mother to accompany sheriff's officers to a substation, where he heard and waived his Miranda rights prior to making his incriminating statements (V1/R40, 50-51).

On these facts, Snipes has failed to demonstrate any error in the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress. It should also be noted that any potential error in this regard would be rendered harmless in light of Snipes' admissions to other witnesses, including his extensive confession to Martin Patterson. Clearly, he is not entitled to a new trial on this issue.

 $^{^4}$ Snipes had voluntarily obtained his GED in 1993 (V7/R494), and was living with his girlfriend at the time of the murder (V13/T608).

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING ADMISSION OF SNIPES' STATEMENTS TO HIS UNCLE.

Snipes also disputes the trial court's ruling on his motion to suppress the statements he made to his uncle, Martin Patterson. According to Snipes, allegations of coercion by non-state actors in securing inculpatory statements should be weighed by a trial judge to determine a threshold of voluntariness for admissibility before the statements may be presented for the jury's consideration. However, no legal basis exists to exclude such statements, and no reasonable theory requiring any such legal basis has been offered.

At one time, Florida courts held that due process required the suppression of an involuntary confession, even when the confession was made to a private person. See, State v. Kettering, 483 So.2d 97 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); Peak v. State, 342 So.2d 98 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) (confessions which had been given to private individuals, unrelated to law enforcement, could not be admitted due to the involuntariness demonstrated by their circumstances). However, the holding in these cases, which appears to be what Snipes is asking this Court to adopt, was eviscerated by Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157 (1986), which held that police misconduct was a necessary prerequisite to finding a due process violation when the voluntariness of a defendant's statements is at issue. Given the square rejection of this issue by the United States Supreme Court, the appellant's claim is without merit.

Thus, the appellant's suggestion that the trial judge be required to initially rule on the admissibility of alleged involuntary statements made to non-state actors, while academically interesting, would serve no useful purpose. Notably, Snipes fails to identify any legal authority which could preclude the admission of even an involuntary statement to a private individual. Any such authority would seemingly be premised on due process; therefore, Connelly's requirement of affirmative state misconduct would defeat the claim. Since the question of voluntariness alone is not an issue which determines admissibility, there is clearly no need for the trial judge to make specific findings as to voluntariness prior to the admission of a defendant's statements.

This Court has consistently refused to exclude relevant evidence when no misconduct by the state has been demonstrated. Allen, 636 So.2d at 497 (evidence from electronic eavesdropping admissible as long as no police inducement or privileged communication involved); Spivey v. State, 529 So.2d 1088, 1091 (Fla. 1988) (Miranda only addressed to the action of the state and its agents); Maqueira v. State, 588 So.2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 504 U.S. 918 (1992); Stewart v. State, 549 So.2d 171, 173 (Fla. 1989), cert. denied, 497 U.S. 1032 (1990); Dufour v. State, 495 So.2d 154, 158-159 (Fla. 1986) (exclusion not required when non-state actor interfered with defendant's right to counsel), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1101 (1987); see also, State v. Edwards, 650

So.2d 630, 631 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). The purpose of the exclusionary rule is to deter improper police conduct. <u>Voorhees v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 602, 611 (Fla. 1997) (noting exclusionary rule's theory of deterrence operates only if evidence is target of police activity); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 648, 658 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert. denied</u>, 517 U.S. 1159 (1996); <u>Echols v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568, 571-572 (Fla. 1985), <u>cert. denied</u>, 479 U.S. 871 (1986). This purpose is not served by keeping otherwise relevant information from a jury when no state action is at issue.

Jury instruction 2.04(e) permits the jury to determine the voluntariness of any statement, and to disregard statements deemed to have been involuntarily obtained. The appellant's jury was given this instruction, and convicted him of this offense. He now seeks to create a legal right which does not exist in order to claim that an alleged violation of this newly created right entitles him to a new trial. The adoption of the illogical rule he now proposes would result only in the frustration of justice in this case. Clearly, the appellant is not entitled to relief on this issue.

ISSUE V

WHETHER REMAND IS NECESSARY DUE TO TESTIMONY THAT SNIPES WAS NOT REMORSEFUL.

Snipes next presents a claim which clearly has not been preserved for appellate review. The record reflects that, during the direct examination of Martin Patterson, the prosecutor asked Patterson why he had turned over his tape-recorded conversations with Snipes to the police. Patterson responded that he had not seen any remorse and he was concerned about the welfare of the community (V13/T674). Defense counsel did not object, probably because it provided him the opportunity to suggest, on cross examination, that Snipes had expressed remorse in letters that he had written to Patterson (V13/T674, 684-685). Counsel asked repeatedly about remorse, and tried to get Patterson to retract his opinion as to Snipes' lack of remorse (V13/T684-685). On redirect, the prosecutor asked Patterson to explain why he felt Snipes was not remorseful (V13/T685). Defense counsel's relevancy objection was overruled, and Patterson answered (V13/T685). On recross, counsel again asked Patterson's opinion that about Snipes' written expression of regret (V13/T689).

After Patterson was excused from the witness stand and the next witness was announced, the defense moved for a mistrial, alleging that Patterson's comments about Snipes' lack of remorse warranted a new trial (V13/T690). When the defense claimed that any remorse or lack of remorse was not relevant to Snipes' guilt,

the trial judge offered to instruct the jury not to consider any evidence relating to remorse (V13/T690-692). Defense counsel declined, noting that he wanted the jury to consider the evidence he presented about Snipes' being sorry (V13/T693).

Since defense counsel did not request a mistrial until after the witness had been excused, the objection was untimely and this issue was not preserved for appellate review. Norton v. State, 709 So.2d 87, 94 (Fla. 1997). In addition, it is readily apparent that any possible error created was invited by defense counsel's attempt to convince Patterson that Snipes had expressed remorse. A party may not complain on appeal of an error induced by that party. Norton, 709 So.2d at 94; Terry v. State, 668 So.2d 954, 962 (Fla. 1996); Czubak v. State, 570 So.2d 925, 928 (Fla. 1990). To the extent that the appellant is complaining that Patterson was presented as a close relative, having been in the military, a private investigator, and in law school (apparently suggesting that this evidence was more prejudicial because it came from a credible source, see Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 51), it must be noted that all of this information was brought out in the cross examination by defense counsel. Furthermore, the appellant's focus on Patterson's statement of concern for the community was never objected to during the trial and was not the basis for the motion for mistrial made below (V13/T690-693). On these facts, this issue must be rejected as invited and procedurally barred.

Even if the issue is considered, Snipes has failed to demonstrate any error in the denial of his motion for mistrial. Patterson's initial statement that Snipes did not appear remorseful and Patterson was concerned for the community was responsive to the prosecutor's relevant question as to Patterson's motives. His motives were relevant because defense counsel had been asserting since the beginning of trial that Snipes had been tricked into making these statements (V10/T346). As the judge noted, the State did not address this evidence again until the defense focused on remorse during the cross examination (V10/T684-686, T691).

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